IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

STATE OF IOWA,)
)
 Plaintiff-Appellee,)
)
 v.) S.CT. NO. 19-1067
)
 JAKE SKAHILL,)
)
 Defendant-Appellant.)

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR DUBUQUE COUNTY
HONORABLE MONICA L. ZRINYI WITTING, JUDGE
HONORABLE MICHAEL J. SHUBATT, JUDGE
HONORABLE THOMAS A. BITTER, JUDGE

APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND ARGUMENT
AND
REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

MARTHA J. LUCEY
State Appellate Defender

ASHLEY STEWART
Assistant Appellate Defender
astewart@spd.state.ia.us
appellatedefender@spd.state.ia.us

STATE APPELLATE DEFENDER'S OFFICE
Fourth Floor Lucas Building
Des Moines, Iowa 50319
(515) 281-8841 / (515) 281-7281 FAX
ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

FINAL

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. WHETHER TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO OBJECT TO THE GUARDIAN AD-LITEM'S EVIDENTIARY ARGUMENTS, CROSS EXAMINATION AND RESISTANCE OF DEFENSE COUNSEL'S WITHDRAWAL DURING THE CRIMINAL TRIAL, WHICH EXCEEDED ANY STATUTORY AUTHORITY ALLOWED UNDER IOWA CODE § 915.37(1) AND IMPEDED SKAHILL'S CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS AND A FAIR TRIAL?

Authorities

State v. Clark, 357 N.W.2d 532, 535 (Iowa 1985)

Taylor v. State, 352 N.W.2d 683, 684 (Iowa 1984)

U.S. Const. amend. IV

Iowa Const. art I, § 10

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 694 (1984)

Snethen v. State, 308 N.W.2d 11, 14 (Iowa 1981)

Schertz v. State, 380 N.W.2d 675, 679 (Iowa 1985)

1. Defense Counsel Breached an Essential Duty.

Iowa Code § 915.37(1) (2017)

Iowa Code § 915.10 (2017)

State v. Harrison, 24 P.3d 936 (Utah 2001)

Utah Code Ann. § 78-79 (1999)

Utah Code Ann. § 78-3a-912 (1999)

2. *Skahill was prejudiced by counsel's failure to object to the GAL's objections, motions, and cross examination during the trial.*

State v. Schaer, 757 N.W.2d 630, 638 (Iowa 2008)

Iowa Code § 915.10 (2017)

State v. Harrison, 24 P.3d 936 (Utah 2001)

State v. Tolson, 82 N.W.2d 105 (Iowa 1957)

State v. Gibbs, 239 N.W. 2d 866, 867 (Iowa 1976)

3. *The heavy participation of the GAL in Skahill's criminal trial proceedings is plain error.*

United States v. Atkinson, 297 U.S. 157, 160 (1936)

Jon M. Woodruff, Note, Plain Error By Another Name: Are Ineffective Assistance of Counsel Claims a Suitable Alternative to Plain Error Review in Iowa?, 102 Iowa L. Rev. 1811, 1815 (May 2017)

Wayne R. LaFave et al., 7 Criminal Procedure, § 27.5(d) (4th Ed. November 2018 update)

Tory A. Weigan, Raise or Lose: Appellate Discretion and Principled Decision-Making, 17 Suffolk J. Trial & App. Advoc. 179, 199-241 (2012)

Wiborg v United States, 163 U.S. 632, 658 (1896)

Fed. R. Crim. P. 52 (2019)

United States v. Olano, 507 U.S. 725, 732-34 (1993)

State v. Rutledge, 600 N.W.2d 324, 325 (Iowa 1999)

State v. McCright, 569 N.W.2d 605, 607 (Iowa 1997)

Rhoads v. State, 848 N.W.2d 22, 33 (Iowa 2014)

State v. Sahinovic, No. 15-0737, 2016 WL 1683039, at *2 (Iowa Ct. App. April 27, 2016)

State v. Lucas, 323 N.W.2d 228, 232 (Iowa 1982)

State v. Thomas, 520 N.W.2d 311, 313 (Iowa Ct. App. 1994)

Iowa Code § 814.20 (2017)

State v. Young, 292 N.W.2d 432, 435 (Iowa 1980)

Iowa Cost. Art V, § 4

State v. Dahl, 874 N.W.2d 348 (Iowa 2016)

4. In the alternative, the allowance of the GAL to participate in the criminal trial constituted structural error.

Arizona v. Fulminante, 499 U.S. 279, 310, 111 S.Ct. 1246, 1265 (1991)

Lado v. State, 804 N.W.2d 248, 252 (Iowa 2011)

Weaver v. Massachusetts, 137 S.Ct. 1899, 1907, 198 L.Ed.2d 420 (2017)

State v. Gaskins, 866 N.W.2d 1, 5 (Iowa 2015)

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052,

2064, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984)

Krogmann v. State, 914 N.W.2d 293, 325 (Iowa 2018)

II. WHETHER THE APPLICATION OF IOWA CODE § 915.37(1) VIOLATED SKAHILL'S RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS UNDER ARTICLE I, SECTION 9 OF THE IOWA CONSTITUTION AND THE FIFTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT OF THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION?

Authorities

State v. Clark, 357 N.W.2d 532, 535 (Iowa 1985)

Taylor v. State, 352 N.W.2d 683, 684 (Iowa 1984)

State v. Hernandez-Lopez, 639 N.W.2d 226, 233 (Iowa 2002)

U.S. Const. amend. IV

Iowa Const. art I, § 10

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984)

Snethen v. State, 308 N.W.2d 11, 14 (Iowa 1981)

Schertz v. State, 380 N.W.2d 675, 679 (Iowa 1985)

Iowa Code § 915.37(1) (2017)

State v. Hernandez-Lopez, 639 N.W.2d 226, 233 (Iowa 2002)

Reno v. Flores, 507 U.S. 292, 302, 113 S.Ct. 1439, 1447 (1993)

In re Detention of Garren, 620 N.W.2d 275, 280 n.1 (Iowa 2000)

State v. Miner, 331 N.W.2d 683, 688 (Iowa 1983)

More v. State, 880 N.W.2d 487, 499 (Iowa 2006)

III. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING K.W.'S CHILD PROTECTION CENTER VIDEOS INTO EVIDENCE AFTER K.W.'S TESTIMONY, WHICH RESULTED IN IMPROPER BOLSTERING OF K.W.'S TESTIMONY?

Authorities

State v. Allen, 304 N.W.2d 203, 206 (Iowa 1981)

State v. Tobin, 333 N.W.2d 842, 844 (Iowa 1983)

State v. Neitzel, 801 N.W.2d 612, 621 (Iowa 2011)

State v. Dullard, 668 N.W.2d 585, 589 (Iowa 2003)

State v. Ross, 573 N.W.2d 906, 910 (Iowa 1998)

State v. Weaver, 554 N.W.2d 240, 247 (Iowa 1996)

State v. Hallum, 585 N.W.2d 249, 253-54 (Iowa 1998)

Hallum v. Iowa, 119 S.Ct. 2335 (1999)

Lilly v. Virginia, 527 U.S. 116 (1999)

United States v. Bonds, 608 F.3d 495, 501 (9th Cir. 2010)

Iowa R. Evid. 5.807 (2019)

Fed. R. Evid. 807 (2019)

State v. Paredes, 775 N.W.2d 554, 561 (Iowa 2009)

United States v. Reed, 908 F.3d 102, 119 (5th Cir. 2018)

United States v. Wansdahsega, 924 F.3d 868, 878
(6th Cir. 2019)

United States v. Tome, 61 F.3d 1446, 1449 (10th Cir. 1995)

Rivers v. United States, 777 F.3d 1306, 1312 (11th Cir. 2015)

United States v. Halk, 634 F.3d 482, 488-89 (8th Cir. 2011)

United States v. Bonds, 608 F.3d 495, 501 (9th Cir. 2010)

United States v. Rogers, 587 F.3d 816, 819 (7th Cir. 2009)

United States v. Sinclair, 74 F.3d 753, 758 (7th Cir. 1996)

Doe v. United States, 976 F.2d 1071, 1076 (7th Cir. 1992)

United States v. Moore, 824 F.3d 620, 622 (7th Cir. 2016)

United States v. Turner, 718 F.3d 226, 233 (3^d Cir. 2013)

United States v. Slatten, 865 F.3d 767, 805 (D.C. Cir. 2017)

United States v. Walker, 410 F.3d 754, 757 (5th Cir. 2005)

State v. Long, 628 N.W.2d 440, 445 (Iowa 2001)

State v. Neitzel, 801 N.W.2d 612, 621 (Iowa Ct. App. 2011)

State v. Hildreth, 582 N.W.2d 167, 169 (Iowa 1998)

Iowa R. Evid. 5.802

State v. Rojas, 524 N.W.2d 659, 662-63 (Iowa 1994)

State v. Brown, 341 N.W.2d 10, 14 (Iowa 1983)

Doré, *Iowa Practice Series, Evidence* §5.807:1

State v. Spates, No. 05-0926, 2007 WL1201718 at *3
(Iowa Ct. App. Apr. 25, 2007)

State v. Sullivan, 679 N.W.2d 19, 30 (Iowa 2004)

State v. Elliot, 806 N.W.2d 660, 670-71 (Iowa 2011)

State v. Reynolds, 746 N.W.2d 837, 845 (Iowa 2008)

State v. Miller, 590 N.W.2d 724, 725 (Iowa 1999)

State v. Biddle, 652 N.W.2d 191, 203 (Iowa 2002)

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case should be retained by the Iowa Supreme Court because the issues raised involve a substantial issue of first impression in Iowa. Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(2)(d) and 6.1101(2)(c). Specifically, this case addresses the scope of a guardian ad-litem's (GAL) participation in a criminal trial as provided by Iowa Code section 915.37(1).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of Case

Defendant-Appellant Jake Skahill appeals his conviction, sentence and judgment following a jury trial resulting in guilty verdicts for Sexual Abuse-Second Degree, a class B, felony in violation of Iowa Code § 709.3(1)(b); Lascivious Acts with a Minor Child, a class C felony, in violation of Iowa Code § 709.8(1)(a); Enticing a Minor Child, a class C felony, in violation of Iowa Code § 710.10(1); and Indecent Exposure, a serious misdemeanor, in violation of Iowa Code § 709.9(1).

Course of Proceedings:

On March 23, 2018, the State filed a trial information charging Skahill with four counts: Sexual Abuse-Second Degree, Lascivious Acts with a Child, Enticing a Minor, and Indecent Exposure in violation of Iowa Code §§ 709.3(1)(b); 709.8(1)(a); 710.10(1); and 709.9(1). (Trial Info)(App. pp. 6-7). On April 3, 2018, Skahill pled not guilty to the charges. (Written Arr. Plea of Not Guilty)(App. pp. 8-9). An application to appoint a guardian ad-litem (hereinafter GAL) was filed by the Dubuque County Assistant Attorney. (App. GAL)(Conf. App. pp. 4-5). On April 13, 2018, the Court appointed the GAL. (Order GAL)(Conf. App. Pp, 6-7).

On April 12, 2018, the State filed a motion requesting a 5.104 hearing to determine the admissibility of K.W.'s Child Protection Center recorded interviews. (5.104 App.)(App. pp. 10-11). The State also filed a motion in limine to exclude the testimony of a proposed defense minor witness (K.J.W.). (4/12/18 Motion)(App. pp. 12-14). On May 4, 2018, the defense filed a resistance to the State's motions. (5/4/18

(Resist)(App. pp. 15-17).

On May 7, 2018, at a pre-trial hearing, the State again requested that K.W.'s CPC recorded interviews be admitted, based on Iowa Rule of Evidence 5.801, residual hearsay, under two scenarios: (1) in the event K.W. encounters emotional difficulties that would prevent her from being able to testify, (2) if K.W. is able to testify and the introduction of the video was the State's strategy. (5/7/18 M. Tr. p. 8, L9-p. 9, L15). Defense counsel initially had not objected to the introduction of the video "as long as we are fully able to depose the child so my client can confront his accuser fully." (5/7/18 M. Tr. p. 11, L2-5). The Court did not issue a ruling during the hearing, but reserved the decision. (5/7/18 Order)(App. pp. 18-19). Following the hearing, Skahill filed a waiver of speedy trial on June 7, 2018. (Waiver)(App. p. 20).

On July 12, 2018, the State filed a request to quash an illegal subpoena involving a potential defense witness. (Req. Quash)(App. pp. 21-23). On August 3, 2018, the Court granted the State's motion to quash. (Quash Granted)(App.

pp. 24-25). On September 10, 2018, Skahill reasserted his right to a speedy trial. (Reassert)(App. p. 26). On November 7, 2018, the State filed a motion to strike several defense witnesses. (Strike Def. Wit.)(App. pp. 27-30).

On January 17, 2019, the State again requested that K.W.'s CPC video be admitted due to K.W.'s age and "the interest in reliable testimony that would come before the Court..." (1/17/19 M. Tr. p. 9, L8-15; p.10, L1-13; p. 10, L19-21). Defense counsel objected to the CPC recording as inadmissible hearsay and a violation of the confrontation clause. The defense also argued that because K.W. would be testifying at trial the video should not be allowed. (1/17/19 M. Tr. p. 9, L18-24; p.10, L14-18).

On February 17, 2019, the Court issued rulings for several motions in limine. First, regarding K.W.'s CPC recorded interviews, the Court deemed them admissible under the residual hearsay exception. Secondly, the Court ruled that the testimony of proposed defense witness K.J.W. should be excluded. Third, about the State's motion to strike defense

witness, the Court ruled that the proposed witnesses were not able to testify to “events they did not witness or were not involved in which are the subject of the allegations filed herein.” (2/17/19 Order p. 1-5)(App. pp. 31-35).

On February 18, 2019, the State filed a motion to quash a subpoena issued by the defense for two proposed defense witnesses. (2/18/19 M. Quash)(App. pp. 36-37). The State also filed an objection to the defense proposed exhibits A and B (images showing the chair described by K.W. where the alleged crime took place; image showing chair from every angle). (Obj. Def. Ex; Ex. A and B)(Conf. App. pp. 8-9). On February 20, 2019, the GAL also argued that defense exhibits should be excluded from the trial. (1st Tr. Vol. I, p. 8, L12-16). The Court ruled: “I agree with the State and the GAL that they are prejudicial...” and excluded the photos. (1st Tr. Vol. I, p. 8, L21 p. 9, L6).

On February 19, 2019, the defense counsel objected again to the introduction of K.W.’s CPC videos arguing that it violated the confrontation clause and that the video should not

be admitted because K.W. was going to testify. (1st Tr. Vol. I, p. 10, L4-24; p. 12, L18-21; p. 14, L8-15). The State resisted. (1st Tr. Vol. I, p. 11, L1-p. 12, L14). The GAL also resisted. (1st Tr. Vol. I, p. 13, L3-p. 14, L6). The Court ruled that its admissible ruling would stand. (1st Tr. Vol. I. p. 14, L16-p. 16, L7; 2/17/19 Order)(App. pp. 31-35).

Skahill's jury trial began on February 19, 2019. (1st Tr. Vol. I, p. 1, L7). On February 20, 2019, the State objected to opinion testimony being offered by defense witness Chelsie Skahill regarding K.W.'s truthfulness. (1st Tr. Vol. II, p. 75, L24-p.76, L22). The GAL also objected to the allowance of the testimony. (1st Tr. Vol. II, p. 77, L6-15). The Court allowed an offer of proof of the testimony. (1st Tr. Vol. II, p. 81, L1-p. 90, L17). During the proffer, the GAL cross-examined the witness. (1st Tr. Vol. II, p. 89, L1-18). The State and the GAL both requested that the testimony be excluded. (1st Tr. Vol. II, p. 91, L9-p. 94, L15). The Court ruled that the defense could ask the witness generic questions about K.W.'s truthfulness. (1st Tr. p. 96, L14-18; p. 97, L5-7). On February 22, 2019, a

mistrial was granted because the jury heard an unauthorized portion of K.W.'s CPC recorded interview. (1st Tr. Vol. IV, p.4, L3, L8-p.10, L12).

On February 27, 2019, Skahill's defense attorneys filed a motion to withdraw. (2/27/19 Withdraw)(App. p. 38). The GAL filed a resistance. (3/1/19 Obj. to Withdraw)(App. pp. 40-43). The State did not resist the defense request to withdraw. (3/6/19 M. Tr. p. 9, L15-p.10, L2). The Court granted the withdraw of defense counsel Domeyer and denied the request for defense counsel Hess. (3/8/19 Order Withdraw)(App. pp. 44-46). Defense counsel Hess filed another motion to withdraw and a motion for a continuance. (3/8/19 Withdraw; 3/11/19 Continue)(App. pp. 47-50). The GAL again resisted the request. (3/11/19 M. Tr. p. 7, L13-p.9, L15). The court denied both motions. (3/11/19 Other Order)(App. pp. 51-54).

Before the commencement of the second trial, the State, the GAL, and defense counsel all individually requested that their previous objections, motions in limine, and offers of proof

from the previous trial record stand and be extended to the second trial. (2nd Tr. Vol. I, p. 125, L15-24; p. 126, L2-8; p. 126, L25-p. 127, L2; p. 127, L16-22). The Court agreed that all would be placed in the record for the second trial and that the previous rulings would stand. (2nd Tr. Vol. I, p. 3, L11-13).

On March 14, 2019, Skahill was found guilty as charged. (Verdict)(App. pp. 59-62). Skahill filed a motion for a new trial and arrest of judgment. (4/29/19 New Trial)(App. pp. 63-66). The State resisted. (5/8/19 Resist)(App. pp. 67-69). The GAL also resisted. (5/13/19 GAL Resist)(App. pp. 70-71). The Court denied the motion. (5/31/19 Order)(App. pp. 72-75).

On June 6, 2019, the Court ruled that Sex Abuse - Second Degree and Lascivious Act with a Minor merged and sentenced Skahill to an indeterminate term not to exceed 25 years. The Court sentenced Skahill to an indeterminate 10 years for Enticing a Minor Child. The Court also sentenced Skahill to a term not to exceed 365 days for indecent

exposure. (Order of Disp.)(App. pp. 76-81).

Skahill filed a timely notice of appeal on June 24, 2019. (Notice of Appeal)(App. pp. 82-83).

Facts

During the weekend of February 14, 2018, K.W. spent time with her father, Skahill, her stepmother, Chelsie Skahill, and her half siblings. (2nd Tr. Vol. I, p. 159, L17-p.160, L17; Vol. II, p. 93, L7-17).

K.W. testified that during the visit, she fell asleep on Skahill's chest and when awoke, he showed her his privates. (2nd Tr. Vol. I, p. 145, L11-14). She testified that Skahill asked her to "wiggle it" while it was "outside his pants." (2nd Tr. Vol. I, p. 145, L15-21).

On Sunday, K.W. told her mother that she was getting touched by her dad. (2nd Tr. Vol I, p. 150, L20-25; p. 162, L8-12). K.W.'s mother took her to the doctor. (2nd Tr. Vol. I, p. 151, L10-11; p. 162, L14-15). Dr. Regina Butteris took a complete history from K.W. and performed a physical examination. (2nd Tr. Vol. II, p. 6 L3-20). Following the

physical, forensic interviewer Rosanne Van Cura completed an interview with K.W. (2nd Tr. Vol. II, p. 54, L25-p.55, L8). The interview was recorded. (Ex. 3-Redacted). Cura conducted a second interview with K.W. on May 24, 2018. (2nd Tr. Vol. II, p. 63, L1-8; Ex. 4).

Skahill testified that K.W. never saw his penis. (2nd Tr. Vol. II, p. 155, L10-11). Skahill testified that he never touched K.W.'s privates. (2nd Tr. Vol. II, p. 155, L18-23). Skahill stated that K.W. never touched his penis. (2nd Tr. Vol. II, p. 156, L1-10).

Additional facts will be discussed below as necessary.

ARGUMENT

I. TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO OBJECT TO THE GUARDIAN AD-LITEM'S EVIDENTIARY ARGUMENTS, CROSS EXAMINATION AND RESISTANCE OF DEFENSE COUNSEL'S WITHDRAWAL DURING THE CRIMINAL TRIAL, WHICH EXCEEDED ANY STATUTORY AUTHORITY ALLOWED UNDER IOWA CODE § 915.37(1) AND IMPEDED SKAHILL'S CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS AND A FAIR TRIAL.

A. Preservation of Error: Error was not preserved in this case because defense counsel failed to object to the GAL's

participation in the trial proceedings. However, a defendant's claims of ineffective assistance of trial counsel may be reviewed on direct appeal. State v. Clark, 357 N.W.2d 532, 535 (Iowa 1985). All objections, motions, and rulings made by the State, the GAL, and the defense counsel from the first trial were transferred to the second by request of the State's attorney, the GAL, and defense counsel. (2nd Tr. Vol. I, p. 125, L15-24; p. 126, L2-8; p. 126, L25-p. 127, L2; p. 127, L16-22). The Court ruled that all prior motions and rulings stood. (2nd Tr, Vol. I, p. 3, L11-13).

B. Standard of Review: The Court reviews claims of ineffective assistance of counsel de novo. Taylor v. State, 352 N.W.2d 683, 684 (Iowa 1984).

C. Discussion: A criminal defendant is entitled to effective assistance of counsel. U.S. Const. amend. IV; Iowa Const. art I, § 10; Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). The test for determining whether a defendant received effective assistance of counsel is "whether under the entire record and totality of circumstances the counsel's performance

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