## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA Supreme Court No. 19-1067

STATE OF IOWA, Plaintiff-Appellee,

VS.

JAKE SKAHILL, Defendant-Appellant.

# APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR DUBUQUE COUNTY THE HONORABLE MOINCA L. ZRINYI WITTING, JUDGE

#### **APPELLEE'S BRIEF**

THOMAS J. MILLER Attorney General of Iowa

### **ZACHARY MILLER**

Assistant Attorney General Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor Des Moines, Iowa 50319 (515) 281-5976 (515) 281-4902 (fax) zachary.miller@ag.iowa.gov

CJ MAY Dubuque County Attorney

RICHARD W. KIRKENDALL Assistant County Attorney

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

**FINAL** 

#

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

\* \* \*

The defendant cannot prove a breach of duty because he misinterprets section 915.37. Properly interpreted, the GAL's conduct at his trial complied with that section. Counsel had no duty to object.

# B. The defendant cannot prove prejudice because, absent the GAL's participation, he would have been convicted.

The defendant asserts that the GAL's participation in his trial prejudiced him. Defendant Br. at 51–55. He essentially argues that the GAL's conduct was unfair because she acted as a de facto second prosecutor. *Id.* The defendant says that the GAL argued the legal merits about admitting evidence and usually agreed with the State but disagreed with the State once. *Id.* In the end, he thinks that the GAL lessened the State's burden and made the defense's job harder, which was unfair. *Id.* at 53–55. But general "unfairness" does not prove *Strickland* prejudice; rather, the defendant must undermine confidence in the outcome of his case.

Starting with his evidentiary complaints, the defendant fails to argue that excluding pictures of the chairs changed the result of his trial. *Id.* at 51–55. It is not clear how it could. Nor does he argue that excluding testimony by KW's stepsister about whether the stepsister told KW the stepsister had been abused by the defendant hurt his case. *Id.* at 51–55. Indeed, as the district court observed, such testimony could easily make the defendant look like he abused multiple children. Trial Tr. (2/20/2019) 11:17 to 12:9, 13:21 to 14:10.

Also, the State offered overwhelming evidence of the defendant's guilt. To summarize that overwhelming evidence, KW unwaveringly insisted that the defendant touched her vagina. Trial Tr. (3/12/2019) 149:1–23. Her mother, an ER nurse, CPC doctor, and the videos of KW's CPC interviews all reveal that KW said that the defendant touched her vagina while they sat on a chair in the living room and that he "wiggled" his "wiener" while trying to get KW to touch it. *Id.* at 162:7–12; Trial Tr. (3/13/2019) 11:20–22, 25:13–19; Ex.3 (redacted) 10:53, 11:38, 12:51 to 13:12. And a medical exam a few days after the abuse revealed a scratch on the mucosal tissue near KW's urethra. Ex.2 (ER notes) at 3; C.App.14.

Turning to the GAL's questioning of the stepmother in voir dire, the defendant makes no claim that the GAL's questions undermine confidence in the trial outcome. Nor could he. The district court ruled in his favor by allowing the stepmother to offer an opinion about KW's untruthfulness. Trial Tr. (2/20/2019) 97:9–18.

Moreover, the defendant cannot show that any of the court's rulings would have been different had the GAL not argued. He does not say that any of the evidentiary rulings would have changed. Defendant Br. at 51–55. That makes sense because those arguments largely echoed the State's. Nor does he suggest that the court would have granted his motion for new trial but for the GAL's argument. While the defendant does note that the district court adopted the GAL's argument in rejecting one lawyer's motion to withdraw, he does not show that the court would have granted the motion but for the GAL's argument. In any event, he does not claim a different lawyer would have achieved a different result at the second trial. In short, he does not show that the GAL's participation undermined confidence in his convictions. See State v. Ortiz, 789 N.W.2d 761, 764 (Iowa 2010).

As for the defendant's argument that he faced two prosecutors, he does not explain why that mattered. Of course, the State could have assigned two prosecutors to the case. To the extent he thinks the GAL and prosecutor "working together" could have impacted the jury, there was no such risk. When the jury was present the GAL sat behind the bar. *See* Trial Tr. (2/19/2019) 21:17 to 22:14. She did not object to questions or argue in front of the jury. *Id.* Her only participation in front of the jury was sitting by KW while KW testified via video stream. Trail Tr. (3/12/2019) 138:20–25, 146:6–7, 148:1–6. And as the defendant observes, sometimes the State and GAL disagreed.

The GAL's participation did not allow the State to share its burden of proof. *Cf.* Defendant's Br. at 54. The GAL offered no evidence at trial. Thus, the State's evidence proved the case.

The defendant has not undermined confidence in the outcome of his trial. This Court should reject his ineffectiveness claim.

# C. This Court should continue to reject plain-error doctrine as an end run to error preservation.

Iowa Courts "do not subscribe to the plain error rule ..., have been persistent and resolute in rejecting it, and are not at all inclined to yield on the point." *E.g.*, *State v. Rutledge*, 600 N.W.2d 324, 325

(Iowa 1999) (citing *State v. McCright*, 569 N.W.2d 605, 607 (Iowa 1997)). This Court should not change course now; the defendant offers no new reason to do so. Plus, his case is an inappropriate one to do so because any error was not plain. His claim depends on interpreting an uninterpreted statute in a way that is unrelated to the statute's language. His claim would fail even if this Court indulged it.

# D. The GAL's participation in this case was not structural error.

The defendant asserts that he experienced a structural error, so he should not have to prove *Strickland* prejudice. He argues that the GAL "act[ed] as a prosecutor," forcing him to face two adversaries. Defendant Br. at 62. That, in turn, resulted in fundamental unfairness. *Id.* at 62–63. But the State can have multiple prosecutors on a case, so it is not immediately clear how facing two adversaries is inherently unfair.

In any event, the defendant suffered no structural error. The

Iowa Supreme Court has recognized structural error when "counsel is
completely denied, actually or constructively, at a crucial stage[;] ...

where counsel does not place the prosecution's case against
meaningful adversarial testing; or [] where surrounding
circumstances justify a presumption of ineffectiveness, such as where

counsel has an actual conflict." *Lado v. State*, 804 N.W.2d 248, 252 (Iowa 2011). None of these happened to the defendant. He has not shown a structural error.

The defendant argues that Weaver v. Massachusetts, 137 S. Ct. 1899, 1907 (2017), makes errors whose effects are too hard to measure or errors that always result in unfairness structural errors. Defendant Br. at 62. Even if he is correct, neither applies here. As the State's Strickland prejudice argument shows, each thing the GAL did is reviewable under the normal prejudice standard. And a GAL participating in a trial to support a child or to advocate to protect a child will not "always result in fundamental unfairness." See Weaver, 137 S. Ct. at 1907. The dearth of cases about the unfairness inherent in appointing GALs confirms that appointing a GAL does not always result in unfairness. Indeed, there is nothing inherently unfair about a GAL advocating to protect a child. And that is especially true where the defendant's actions—sexual abusing his seven-year-old daughter—led to the GAL's appointment and participation in his trial.

Even if the defendant suffered a structural error, *Weaver* says that structural errors do not absolve a defendant from having to prove *Strickland* prejudice, with the possible exception for structural errors

resulting in "fundamental unfairness." 137 S. Ct. at 1905, 1910–11, 1913; see also Krogmann v. State, 914 N.W.2d 293, 324 (Iowa 2018) (applying a fact-specific analysis to determine whether a PCR applicant did not have to prove Strickland prejudice when he suffered a structural error). "Structural errors" that do not impact "fundamental fairness" still require a defendant to prove Strickland prejudice. Weaver, 137 S. Ct. at 1905, 1910–11, 1913; see also id. at 1910 ("[T]he term 'structural error' carries with it no talismanic significance as a doctrinal matter."). As the State just explained, the GAL's participation was not unfair at all, much less fundamentally unfair. Thus, even if the defendant suffered a structural error, he had to prove Strickland prejudice. He did not.

In short, allowing the GAL to advocate for KW was not fundamentally unfair. The defendant has not shown the type of error that relieves him of proving *Strickland* prejudice.

# II. The defendant's counsel had no duty to make a substantive due process claim attacking the GAL's participation at trial.

#### **Preservation of Error**

The defendant raises his substantive due process claim as ineffective assistance because he did not preserve error at trial.

Defendant's Br. at 64–65. Ineffectiveness is an exception to error preservation. *State v. Thorndike*, 860 N.W.2d 316, 319 (Iowa 2015). Because the district court entered judgment before July 1, 2019, Iowa Code section 814.7's bar to ineffectiveness claims on direct appeal does not apply. *State v. Macke*, 933 N.W.2d 226, 228 (Iowa 2019).

### **Standard of Review**

This Court reviews ineffectiveness claims de novo. *Thorndike*, 860 N.W.2d at 319. The defendant must prove breach and prejudice. *State v. Ortiz*, 789 N.W.2d 761, 764 (Iowa 2010).

### **Merits**

The defendant argues that the GAL's participation in his trial "violated [his] right to due process" under the Iowa and United States Constitutions. Defendant Br. at 64. He claims to make a substantive due process attack on the GAL statute. *Id.* at 68.

The defendant's claim more closely resembles a procedural due process challenge. Procedural due process challenges attack the procedure used when depriving a citizen of a protected liberty or property interest. *See State v. Willard*, 756 N.W.2d 207, 214 (Iowa 2008) (citation omitted) (describing procedural due process framework). The defendant attacks the procedure used in depriving

him of his liberty. Specifically, he thinks that the GAL should not have gotten to make legal arguments and the GAL's participation in the case allowed it to share the State's burden. Defendant Br. at 69–70. Because the defendant attacks the procedure used to deprive him of his liberty, his challenge seems like one for procedural due process. But because the defendant does not apply that analysis, the State does not either.

Instead, the State responds to the substantive due process claim that the defendant asserted. To begin, he faces an uphill battle because this Court "presumes statutes are constitutional." State v. Smokers Warehouse Corp., 737 N.W.2d 107, 111 (Iowa 2007) (quoting Krull v. Thermogas Co., 522 N.W.2d 607, 614 (Iowa 1994)). Analyzing a substantive due process claim proceeds in two steps. City of Sioux City v. Jacobsma, 862 N.W.2d 335, 340 (Iowa 2015) (citing Santi v. Santi, 633 N.W.2d 312, 317 (Iowa 2001)). First the court identifies the nature of the interest involved and determines if that interest is fundamental. *Id.* (citations omitted). "If the interest is ... fundamental, strict scrutiny applies," otherwise "the government action is subject to a rational basis test." Id. (citing Santi, 633 N.W.2d at 317). Second, the court applies the appropriate level of scrutiny to

the law. *Id*. "Under the rational basis test, the government must have a legitimate interest in the regulation and there must be a reasonable fit between the government interest and the means utilized to advance that interest." *Id*.

The defendant thinks that that the right at stake is "his receipt of a fair trial." Defendant Br. at 69. But that is not the right at issue. The right at stake is the right to be free from participation by a GAL advocating for a child victim at trial. The defendant's contrary view would allow defendants to make substantive due process claims for any error at trial because the error impacted the right to a fair trial. Iowa courts have not treated substantive due process claims attacking trial procedure as implicating a fundamental right to a fair trial. See State v. Russell, 897 N.W.2d 717, 733 (Iowa 2017) (observing that a criminal defendant has "no general due process right to discovery").

Because the defendant has no fundamental right to be free from participation by a GAL at his trial, this Court should apply rational-basis review. Section 915.37 passes that review. The government has a legitimate interest in reducing the trauma to prosecuting child witnesses during the trials of their abusers. Similarly, the government has an interest in encouraging child victims to participate in criminal

trials. Section 915.37 has a reasonable fit with those goals because it provides attorneys to support and protect such child witnesses, thereby reducing trauma to them making it easier to testify. And GALs are appointed after courts consider the "desires and needs of the child." Iowa Code § 915.37. By providing an attorney to support and protect a child after considering the child's needs, the legislature created a reasonable fit between the GAL statute and its interests in reducing trauma to child witnesses and encouraging child witnesses to testify against their abusers.

III. The district court properly admitted KW's CPC interviews under the residual hearsay exception, could have admitted them under the medical diagnosis exception, and any error was harmless.

### **Preservation of Error**

Before the first trial, the district court determined that videos of KW's CPC interviews were admissible. Order Mots. Limine (2/17/2019) at 1–2; App.31–32. Before the second trial, the court confirmed its prior pretrial evidentiary rulings stood. Trial Tr. (3/12/2019) 125:15 to 126:20. At trial, the defendant objected to both videos. Trial Tr. (3/13/2019) 55:19–23, 64:11–18. Error is preserved. *Meier v. Senecaut*, 641 N.W.2d 532, 537 (Iowa 2002).

### Standard of Review

This Court reviews hearsay questions, including whether evidence meets the residual hearsay exception, for correction of errors at law. *State v. Neitzel*, 801 N.W.2d 612, 621 (Iowa Ct. App. 2011) (citing *State v. Paredes*, 775 N.W.2d 554, 560 (Iowa 2009)). This Court "gives deference to the district court's factual findings." *State v. Walker*, 935 N.W.2d 874, 879 (Iowa 2019) (quoting *State v. Long*, 628 N.W.2d 440, 447 (Iowa 2001) (en banc)).

### **Merits**

The defendant argues that "the trial court erred in allowing KW's child protection center videos after KW's testimony ...."

Defendant Br. at 71 (typography altered). But admitting the CPC videos does not warrant reversal for three reasons. First, the district court properly determined they were admissible under the residual hearsay exception. Second, the videos were admissible under the medical diagnosis hearsay exception. Third, any error in admitting the videos was harmless.

A. The district court properly admitted the videos of KW's CPC interviews under the residual hearsay exception because the videos were necessary and admitting them served the interest of justice.

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